IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Cl

SID J WHITE

047 FILE

By

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 83,918 [TFB Nos. 93-30,761 (09C) and 93-31,279 (09C)]

v.

JOHN LOBBAN MAYNARD,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

FRANCES R. BROWN Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801-1085 (407) 425-5424ATTORNEY NO. 503452

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Ninth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" voted to find probable cause on April 4, 1994, in Case No. 93-30,761 (09C) and Case No. 93-31,279 (09C). In Supreme Court Case No. 83,198, which consists of the aforementioned cases, the bar filed its complaint on June 30, 1994. After two continuances (both at the respondent's request), the final hearing was held on March 20, 1995, and continued thereafter to March 24, 1995. The referee issued his report on April 6, 1995. Thereafter, the referee entered an order clarifying his report on April 18, 1995, and entered an order correcting errors to the report on May 1, 1995.

The referee recommended the respondent be suspended for ninety-one days and pay the bar's costs for violating the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: As to Count I, Disciplinary Rule 5-104(A) of the Code of Professional Responsibility for entering into a business transaction with a client wherein they have differing interests and where the client expects the lawyer to exercise his professional judgment for the protection of the client; and the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably

informed about the status of a matter and promptly complying with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-1.7(a) for representing a client where that representation will be directly adverse to the interests of another client; 4-1.7(b) representing a client where the lawyer's exercise for of independent professional judgment in the representation may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third person or by the lawyer's own interest; 4-1.7(c) for representing multiple clients in a single matter without explaining the implications of the common representation and the advantages and risks involved; 4-1.8(a) for entering into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquiring an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interests adverse to a client; 4-1.8(b) for using information relating to the representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client; 4-1.15(a) for commingling; 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, misrepresentation; and Rules Regulating Trust Accounts 5-1.1 for using trust funds for purposes other than those for which they were entrusted to the

lawyer; and 5-1.2 for failing to follow the minimum required trust accounting procedures and maintain the minimum required trust accounting records. The referee recommended the respondent be found not guilty of the allegations in Count II. As to Count III, Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonable necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-8.4(c)for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation; and 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice. The referee recommended the respondent be found not guilty as to the allegations in Count IV. As to Count V, Rules of Professional 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably Conduct: informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation;

4-1.8(a) for entering into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquiring an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interests adverse to a client; 4-1.8(b) for using information relating to the representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client; 4-2.1 for failing to exercise independent professional judgment and render candid advice in representing a client; and 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar considered this case at its meeting which ended on May 26, 1995. The board voted to appeal the referee's recommendation as to discipline and to seek disbarment of the respondent; require that respondent pay restitution to Randy Strausberg and Matthew Seibel for losses incurred as a result of respondent's conduct or, in the event Strausberg and/or Seibel should make successful claims to The Florida Bar Clients' Security Fund, make reimbursement to the fund for payments made by it in connection with the respondent's conduct; and pay the costs of these disciplinary proceedings. The bar served its petition for review on June 2, 1995.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts are taken from the report of referee, unless otherwise noted.

Count I

Respondent met Randy Strausberg in 1982 and thereafter they became close friends. Over the years, respondent handled several legal matters for Strausberg. In early 1984, Strausberg hired the respondent to set up an irrevocable trust for his children with the respondent acting as trustee. One of the purposes of the trust was to create a fund for the educational needs and bar mitzvahs of his children. The children's trust is hereinafter referred to as the "Trust."

Strausberg knew he could not dictate which investments the trustee should consider, however, he believed that Respondent would consider his recommendations. Towards that end, Strausberg had numerous discussions with respondent regarding what he considered to be good investments and he expected

respondent to make prudent investments for the Trust. In a letter dated November 10, 1984, he outlined to respondent what he considered to be good investments.

In January, 1984, Strausberg delivered \$43,000 to respondent as trustee and on January 25, 1984, respondent loaned the money to Eric J. Parker and took back a mortgage, hereinafter referred to as the "Parker Mortgage," for the Trust. Respondent failed to list the \$43,000 initial cash contribution in any accounting for the Trust. In August, 1984, Strausberg transferred a mortgage, (hereinafter referred to as the "Chang Mortgage"), valued at \$9,000 to the Trust which was to have brought to the Trust monthly payments of \$133.18.

On February 11, 1985, respondent received a payment of \$19,493.33 on the Parker Mortgage. In a June, 1985, letter, he advised Strausberg he would open a separate money market account for the Trust with a deposit of \$20,537.63 (which included the February, 1985, Parker Mortgage payment of \$19,493.33 and payments on the Chang Mortgage). However, he did not account for those funds until August, 1985, when he opened a separate money

market account for the Trust. Respondent did not indicate how many payments on the Chang Mortgage were included in the deposit and there is no method to determine such as respondent's records for the Trust are incomplete. Respondent agreed to send Strausberg monthly statements from that separate account, however, he failed to do so.

In February, 1987, respondent received the final payment of \$16,053.33 on the Parker Mortgage. He did not deposit said funds into the money market account. Rather, it appears he put them with funds held in his general law office trust account.

Respondent kept a ledger for the Trust funds held in the money market account and a client ledger for Trust funds held in his general law office trust account. The entries in these two ledgers can not be reconciled. Further, respondent has been unable to account for all funds taken from the Trust.

Respondent was responsible for the preparation and filing of annual income tax returns for Trust. However, he did not timely file tax returns for the years ending 1985 and 1986 and despite

Internal Revenue notices advising of delinquent fiduciary tax returns, he did not file tax returns for the years ending 1989, 1990 and 1991.

Respondent loaned himself \$15,000 from the Trust, without providing any collateral, and in a subsequent accounting identified the loan as the "Mayfield Loan". Although unable to provide a copy of the promissory note, respondent claims he executed one to himself as trustee. It is impossible to determine from the Trust records whether the loan was paid back, however, respondent testified that it was repaid with interest.

In 1987, respondent made a personal loan of \$13,156.50 to Bernard Weinstein from the Trust, without requiring a promissory note or security for the loan. He also used the Trust fund to make loans to his friends and to pay off his personal debt to the Crowders in the amount of \$15,606. Respondent, during the referee hearing, observed that loans to "friends" was the purpose of the Trust and that it was unlikely that loans would be made to persons other than friends.

In December, 1985, respondent loaned \$16,500 from the Trust to his personal secretary and her friend, without first obtaining a credit check or having them provide any type of financial statement. He took back a second mortgage, hereinafter referred to as the "Alter/Mansfield Mortgage," without obtaining any type of appraisal on the property. Subsequently the Alter/Mansfield Mortgage went into default. Even though he knew as early as June, 1988, that the Alter/ Mansfield Mortgage was over five months in arrears, respondent did not bring a foreclosure action or take any other action to collect on the note. In March, 1989, the first mortgage holder obtained a final judgment and a certificate of sale. Respondent did not notify Strausberg that the first mortgage had been foreclosed "out from under" the Alter/Mansfield Mortgage. In his accountings to Strausberg, respondent continued to list the Alter/Mansfield Mortgage as an asset of the Trust, well after the property had been lost and the mortgage and note became valueless.

Respondent represented in a July 13, 1986, letter of accounting to Strausberg that the Alter/Mansfield Mortgage could be withdrawn after six month's notice. Under the terms of the

loan, however, the six month's notice of withdrawal proviso was inapplicable until after December 12, 1988.

In May, 1984, respondent agreed with one James Hart that the latter would purchase a condominium known as "the Springs," from one Timothy Meyers for \$110,000 with \$4,000 down. Respondent, who represented Meyers, was to hold the deed, apparently in escrow, until Hart paid Meyers for his equity in the property. Hart was also to pay the first mortgage due Florida Federal Savings and Loan Association in the principal amount of \$82,000. A second mortgage in favor of Barnett Bank encumbered the property in the sum of \$100,000. In March, 1986, respondent dispersed \$19,300 from the Trust to Meyers and obtained a mortgage, but no note, from Meyers for payment, ostensibly representing Meyers' equity in the property. Respondent did not obtain an appraisal on the property nor did he obtain the outstanding balance of the mortgage to Florida Federal to determine the equity in the property. He knew at the time the payment was made that the combined outstanding balance of the Barnett Bank mortgage and the Florida Federal mortgage exceeded the value of the property. This payment was Hart's

responsibility under the May, 1984, agreement with Meyers. Respondent treated the payment as a loan to Hart (who was his former client) and treated the mortgage as security for the Meyers payment in his Trust records, even though at the time of the dispersement he did not have a promissory note from Hart. In his July 16, 1986, accounting, respondent indicated that the Trust had a mortgage in the amount of \$21,000 on the Springs.

The Florida Federal mortgage had a due on sale clause and the Barnett Bank mortgage on the Springs had a nontransferable clause. The respondent did not obtain the consent of either mortgage holder for the transfer of the property from Meyers to Hart. Further, he did not record the mortgage taken back from Meyers, ostensibly to avoid "triggering" the "due on sale" clause.

Respondent loaned Hart additional monies from the Trust, including a \$14,146.18 payment on August 13, 1987, to reinstate the Florida Federal mortgage. These monies were paid directly by respondent to Florida Federal for payments due on Meyers' first mortgage. The \$14,146.18 payment from the Trust was from monies

respondent still held in his general law office trust account, not from the money market account. Over one year from the \$19,300 payment to Meyers, respondent obtained a promissory note from Hart for \$41,618.75 with a 12 percent interest rate. Respondent knew at the time he loaned the Trust's funds to Hart that Hart was having difficulty making the obligated payments to Florida Federal. Further, respondent had received numerous notices that the assessments and maintenance fees of the Springs property were not being paid.

In 1987, Florida Federal filed a foreclosure action on the Springs naming Meyers as a defendant. Respondent accepted service for Meyers and filed a notice of appearance as counsel for Meyers. He failed to inform Strausberg of the foreclosure action and failed to explain that more monies from the Trust were going to pay the Meyers loan to Florida Federal with no increase in the collateral. For example, respondent's 1987 accounting of the Trust assets showed the Hart Mortgage as having a value of \$44,146.18, which reflected an increase of \$23,146.18 over the July amount of \$21,000.00 and his 1989 accounting showed the mortgage as having a value of \$56,326.70, which reflected an

increase of \$12,180.52 over the 1987 accounting. Respondent misrepresented to Strausberg the financial state of the Trust. In his July, 1989, accounting, respondent stated there was \$17,677.66 cash in the Trust. The money market account bank statement, however, showed a beginning balance on June 30, 1989, of \$4,699.98 and an ending balance on July 31, 1989, as \$4,723.46, with no deposits or withdrawals. The client ledger for the Trust for the year 1989, did not indicate a cash balance of \$17,677.66 at any time.

Although knowing that the cash in the Trust had been depleted, the Alter/Mansfield mortgage was rendered valueless and that the loan to Hart was in default, respondent, in the July, 1989, accounting, promised Strausberg that he would liquidate the trust assets and invest them in zero coupon bonds. He later wrote Hart a letter, indicating that Hart owed him a debt which at the end of the month totaled \$123,312.57. In August, 1991, respondent sold the Springs property for Meyers, without an appraisal, at a price that did not benefit the Trust.

Count III

In or about the middle of 1990, Strausberg retained respondent to write demand letters to one Gary Monieson regarding an unpaid loan. He told respondent he wanted to claim a bad debt reduction on his personal income tax return. Strausberg requested respondent send the information directly to his accountant so that he might claim the deduction on his 1990 income tax return.

Strausberg had difficulty contacting respondent in 1991 and stated that respondent told him he had sent the information when in fact he had not done so. Respondent did not forward the information to the accountant until April 10, 1992. At that time, Strausberg had already filed his 1990 tax return and did not wish to amend it, lest it trigger an audit by the Internal Revenue Service. Strausberg was unable to use the deduction for any subsequent tax year. Respondent's failure to seasonably provide the information to the accountant in resulted substantial tax benefits being lost by Strausberg.

Count V

In 1989, Dr. Matthew Seibel hired respondent to serve as cocounsel in probating his great aunt's estate. Respondent had handled several legal matters for Seibel over the years and they had become close personal friends. Indeed, respondent, Seibel and Strausberg and their families often traveled, visited and socialized together.

In April, 1989, respondent asked Seibel to loan him \$35,000 for personal reasons and Seibel agreed. Respondent did not put the terms of the loan in writing, neither did he advise Seibel to seek the advice of independent legal counsel nor did respondent give him the opportunity to do so. He did not request Seibel consent to the loan in writing nor did Seibel so consent. The discussions between the respondent and Seibel regarding the terms of the loan spanned approximately one and one half minutes and took place in a car. As security for the loan, respondent assigned to Seibel a mortgage he was holding. At the time of this loan, Seibel considered respondent to be his friend and attorney and trusted the respondent to act in his best interests.

In the fall of 1990, prior to the repayment of the \$35,000 loan, respondent indicated to Seibel that he needed to purchase certain property and asked Seibel for another loan. Seibel, not having that much ready cash, obtained a bank loan and then loaned the respondent \$33,911.50. Respondent provided no security or collateral for the loan. Respondent advised Seibel he would get all of his money back plus interest or dividends. The discussion regarding the terms of the \$33,911.50 loan, like the other one, took less than a minute and one-half. Respondent told Seibel needed the money for and Seibel relied what he on his representations.

Respondent did not put the terms of the loan in writing, did not give Seibel the opportunity to seek the advice of independent legal counsel and did not request that Seibel consent to the loan in writing nor was Seibel's consent ever reduced to writing.

Respondent used the \$33,911.50 to purchase property in the name of one of his companies which Seibel later learned was solely owned by respondent. Seibel later sought repayment of the loan, however, his repeated requests for payment were futile.

Respondent has filed for bankruptcy and listed this loan as one of his debts to be discharged.

In 1991, respondent approached Seibel about a real estate venture investment involving a rental property referred to as the Oak Lane property. Respondent owned the Oak Lane property and conveyed it to Seibel by deed dated Feb. 20, 1991. At the time of the conveyance, the property was encumbered by a first mortgage.

After the property was purchased by Seibel, he refinanced it. Seibel claims he refinanced the mortgage because respondent represented that the original mortgagee was calling its loan. Over a short period of time, Seibel paid respondent over \$12,500 towards repairs and renovations to the property. Respondent claims to have paid in the same amount and that such funds were expended for repairs and maintenance to the Oak Lane property.

In the fall of 1992, Seibel received a notice from the mortgagee that the mortgage was in arrears. Respondent represented that it was merely a bank error and that he

(Respondent) would take care of the matter. Thereafter, respondent falsely represented that he had indeed taken care of the matter. At that time, Seibel actually viewed the property and he judged it to be in very poor condition and that it did not appear to have had any renovation work as indicated by respondent. In 1992, Seibel requested an accounting of the real estate venture from respondent, however, respondent failed to respond to the request.

Seibel sold the Oak Lane property in an attempt to recoup some of his losses. Although vehemently denied by respondent, Seibel believed respondent inflated the value of the property in order to induce him to enter into the venture.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent previously received a two month suspension in The Florida Bar v. Maynard, 372 So. 2d 74 (Fla. 1979). A client of respondent complained that respondent had failed to use funds provided to pay off a judgment as instructed. An investigation commenced and a grievance proceeding was held. Respondent was asked whether a document which had been presented into evidence was a true copy of his master trust account journal. Respondent replied that it was. Thereafter, it was learned that respondent had instructed his bookkeeper to alter entries in the master trust account journal and a second grievance proceeding was commenced with probable cause being found. The referee found that respondent under oath, knowingly and intentionally provided a false answer to the grievance committee regarding whether a page from his trust journal, which had been presented into evidence in the proceedings, was a true copy. The referee noted that the false statement to the grievance committee was supported by other false statements which respondent had made to the committee, evidencing a purpose to conceal the true nature of his account. firm's trust In Maynard, the court adopted the

referee's recommendation that respondent be found guilty of engaging in conduct representing dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice and engaging in conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law. That case, like the matter herein, demonstrates respondent's dishonesty and his disregard of his responsibility as a member of The Florida Bar to maintain a standard of conduct that exemplifies the legal profession.

This case presents a pattern of conduct where respondent cultivated a close personal and professional relationship with his clients and then used their trust to exploit them for his personal benefit without regard to their interests. Without hesitation, respondent entered into business transactions with his clients, disregarded and violated his fiduciary duty as trustee, used client funds for his own purposes, made misrepresentations to clients to conceal his activities and conduct, failed to keep clients informed about matters and comply with reasonable requests for information and entered into situations with clients strife with conflicts of interest between

clients and between himself and his clients. Although the referee did not specifically find that respondent acted with a "bad motive," it is clear that he acted without regard to his Respondent further failed to properly clients' interests. records with respect maintain his trust account to the complainant, Randy Strausberg. He has refused to acknowledge his wrongdoing and throughout the proceedings less was than forthcoming and cooperative.

Respondent established himself in the lives of Strausberg and Seibel to the extent that they had extreme confidence in him and blindly trusted him with their affairs and their money. They truly demonstrated a level of blind trust that, as discussed in The Florida Bar v. Dancu, 490 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1980), is unparalled in very few other economic relationships. In the present case, respondent deprived his clients of substantial funds, which have not been recouped, and behaved in such a manner that he should receive discipline harsher than a 91 day suspension and should be required to pay them restitution.

Given the nature of the charges, the number of violations,

the pattern of misconduct, respondent's disciplinary history and his lack of remorse, a disbarment or a long period of suspension and restitution is appropriate.

ARGUMENT

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