FILED SID J. WHITE JUL 24 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 83,918 [TFB Case Nos. 93-30,761 (09C) and 93-31,279 (09C)]

vs.

JOHN LOBBAN MAYNARD,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

(Before a Referee)

Gavin D. Lee, Esquire Gavin D. Lee, P.A. 230 Lookout Place Suite 200 Maitland, Florida 32751 Florida Bar No. 128129 Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appropriateness of discipline depends, in large measure, upon the Respondent's capacity for rehabilitation. The supreme sanction of disbarment is reserved for those lawyers who hold little or no promise of rehabilitation. In the instant case there has been no finding of bad motive on the part of the Respondent and the most serious charge against him relating to the Strausberg children's trust is mitigated by the fact that he was serving as trustee at Randy Strausberg's behest and not expressly as an attorney.

While the Respondent does not contest the recommended discipline, he was not afforded an opportunity to present matters in mitigation. Due to an initiative taken by The Bar, the penalty phases of this case was consolidated with that of another held before the same referee. If this Court feels that the record in the instant case does not support the recommended discipline, the Respondent should have an opportunity to present matters in mitigation. This is particularly important since the Respondent, during virtually all relevant periods, was suffering from alcoholism from which he is now recovering.

The only evidence to support The Bar's case respecting the matter of Gary Monieson is the hearsay testimony of Randy Strausberg relating a conversation he had with his New York CPA, Joel Ashe. This testimony does not rise to the level of clear and convincing evidence, particularly in face of this one contradiction by the Respondent.

The Motion in Limine should have been granted since the Referee recommended conviction regarding various trust account discrepancies pertaining to Randy Strausberg. These accusations could have been defended against had the Respondent had returned to him all of the records he had been required to furnish to The Bar.

ARGUMENT

BAR'S POINT ON REVIEW:

WHETHER THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE IS APPROPRIATE WITH THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS AND THE RESPONDENT'S PAST RECORD.

CROSS POINT ONE

WHETHER THE FAILURE OF THE REFEREE TO DEFER RECOMMENDING DISCIPLINE UNTIL THE CONCLUSION OF CASE NO. 84,648 [TFB CASE NO. 94-31,320 (09C)] HAS PREJUDICED THE RESPONDENT BY DENYING HIM AN OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT MATTERS IN MITIGATION.

If the array of authorities cited by The Bar shows nothing else, they demonstrate that this Court determines discipline on a case by case basis. Considered are the totality of the circumstances of the offense, the Respondent's past record and any collateral matters, including the influence of substance abuse, which may have contributed to the respondent's derelictions. The facts in no two cases are identical and this Court has cited generously to matters which have both mitigated and militated in its determination of appropriate discipline. On one point, however, this Court has been particularly consistent and that is that the ultimate sanction of disbarment is reserved for those lawyers who hold no promise of rehabilitation.

> the extreme sanction of disbarment is to be imposed only "in those rare case where rehabilitation is highly improbably" (citation omitted) <u>The Florida Bar v. Rosen</u>, 495 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1986) at p. 181, 182.

The Respondent in the instant case does not claim to be blameless. Except for Count Three, he does not dispute the factual findings of the Referee. Thus, the issue before this Court is to

determine how the conduct of the Respondent, as well as his present attitude, demonstrate his potential for reform.

To begin with, the depiction of the Respondent by The Bar is The Bar has sought to characterize the wholly distorted. Respondent as a guileful predator who ingratiated himself with Mr. Strausberg and Dr. Seibel as a ruse to secure their trust and ultimately their funds. The record simply does not support such a Neither Mr. Strausberg or Dr. Seibel questions the depiction. genuineness of the friendship, indeed affection, existing between themselves and the Respondent during most of their acquaintenanceship. If anything, it was Mr. Strausberg who imposed upon this relationship to draw the Respondent into his world of investment by requesting that he serve as trustee of the children's Obviously, this afforded Mr. Strausberg all of the trust. advantages of an inter vivos trust, while, due to his close relationship to the trustee, affording him influence that was tantamount to control. The record is clear that Mr. Strausberg intended to "recommend" investments and did so. He also expected to have the corpus dispersed from time to time for the educational and religious needs of his children. Unfortunately, Mr. Strausberg for, whatever reason, did not exercise the close control that he originally contemplated and, accordingly, the Respondent, no expert on investments, was left to do the best he could. For the most part he made loans to people whom he knew and trusted. In hindsight his judgment was misplaced, a fact that was aggravated (at least as far as the transaction with James Hart was concerned)

with an unforeseen economic down turn in the local real estate market. Nevertheless, he did make most investments in mortgages as Mr. Strausberg requested (T401). He did lend funds to Bernard Weinstein, but the evidence shows that those funds were repaid in full before Mr. Weinstein became a trustee. He loaned money to himself and is adamant that this loan was repaid with interest. In fact he lost thousands of his own funds trying to save the trust (T413).

Regarding the transactions with Dr. Seibel, the Respondent concedes that he did not comply with all of the express requirements of the rules governing dealings with clients. Of the three transactions involved, the first, the \$35,000.00 loan, was concluded to Dr. Seibel's satisfaction. The subsequent \$33,000.00 loan obviously was not. Nevertheless, Dr. Seibel, a physician who certainly understood the basic mechanics of loans, was fully aware that he was lending unsecured money to a friend in need.

If the letter of the rules was violated, the spirit was not. Clearly it is the intention of the strict standards to which lawyers are held to protect the trusting public which relies upon attorneys to negotiate the rocks and shoals of unfamiliar waters. In the instant case both Mr. Strausberg and Dr. Seibel were eminently familiar with the waters in which they were traveling with the Respondent. Mr. Strausberg was unquestionably a highly sophisticated investor, much more conversant that the Respondent regarding the real estate, securities and futures markets and related finance. He devised a scheme relying heavily upon his

relationship with the Respondent. Similarly, Dr. Seibel understood the nature of loans, understood the nature of security and knew that he was making an unsecured loan to a friend. No doubt the Respondent assured him that his impending fortunes would permit him to repay the loan. However, there is nothing to indicate that these assurances were not made in good faith.

The Bar has correctly pointed out in its brief regardless of his other findings, the Referee did not find that the Respondent was guilty of bad motive, a highly mitigating factor <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Davis</u>, 361 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1978). The absence of bad motive is clearly reflected in the discipline recommended by the Referee. As has been pointed out earlier, this discipline is entirely appropriate unless it can be shown that the Respondent is beyond rehabilitation. Since the recommended sanctions are a reflection of the absence of bad motive they are inextricably linked to the evidence, more specifically to the candor and demeanor of the Respondent whose testimony consumed the greatest part of the proceedings.

> The rulings of a trial court arrive in appellate courts for the presumption of correctness appellate courts must and interpret the evidence in a manner most favorable to sustain the trial court's rulings (citations omitted). The appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier effect Horatio Enterprises, Inc. v. Rabin, 619 So.2d 555 (3rd DCA 1993).

Moreover, the fact that the Respondent was serving as trustee of an irrevocable inter vivos trust clearly distinguishes him and his obligations from trust funds he maintains in his capacity as an attorney. He has been cited for his failure to report to Mr. Strausberg, yet Mr. Strausberg, the settlor of the trust, had of necessity relinquished control over his funds and could serve only in an advisory capacity. Even that might have been deemed questionable by the IRS had the matter been investigated. In any event, the Respondent clearly owed a lesser duty to Mr. Strausberg. Certainly this issue raised doubts in the mind of the Referee who sought, but never received an advisory opinion from The Bar on this point (T467).

As noted in the Statement of the Case, The Bar had moved to transfer Case No. 84,648 to the Referee in the instant case so as to consolidate the penalty phases. At the close of the hearing the Referee told the parties that he would endeavor to submit his report without recommending discipline. Without any explanation, fact contains recommended discipline. the report in Notwithstanding the lack of opportunity to present matters in willing to accept this mitigation, the Respondent is recommendation. The Bar, however, is contesting this recommendation, a fact which makes the Respondent vulnerable since he is now obliged to defend the recommendations based upon a record devoid of expressly mitigating evidence. Accordingly, if this Court feels that the record is insufficient to sustain the Referee's recommendation, the Respondent prays that the case be remanded for further proceedings as originally contemplated. Case

No. 84,648 was heard on July 7, 1995, and the report is expected shortly. In support of this request, the Respondent proffers that he was seriously impaired for much of the relevant time by alcoholism.

> This Court has in the past held that a loss of control due to addiction may properly be considered as a mitigating circumstance in order to reach a just conclusion as to the discipline to be properly imposed...<u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Rosen</u>, supra at p. 181, 182.

This defense is anticipated by The Bar in its brief at page 29. The Respondent will be able to demonstrate that due to courageous and aggressive treatment that he has been alcohol-free for the last year and a half and requests the opportunity to make that case as well as to present any other matters in mitigation.

CROSS POINT TWO

THERE IS NO CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S FINDING AS TO COUNT THREE.

In this Count the Respondent is accused of failing to send to Mr. Strausberg's accountant in New York, Mr. Joel Ashe, copies of the correspondence that the Respondent had sent to Gary Monieson in an attempt to collect approximately \$50,000.00 due by Monieson to Mr. Strausberg. The correspondence was not sent in any serious anticipation that Monieson would be able to pay the debt, but rather to document the loan as uncollectible for Mr. Strausberg's There is no issue that the correspondence was sent tax purposes. Respondent to Monieson nor that copies of that the by correspondence were provided directly to Mr. Strausberg. The sole issue is whether the Respondent failed to provide Mr. Ashe with copies of this correspondence, an undertaking which Mr. Strausberg could just as easily have accomplished himself. The sole evidence to support The Bar's claim is the hearsay testimony (admitted over the objections of the Respondent) that Mr. Strausberg had spoken to Mr. Ashe and that Mr. Ashe claimed that he had not received copies of the Monieson correspondence on time. In allowing in this hearsay, the Referee apparently relied upon The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986) which Bar counsel kept urging as a carte blanche for hearsay evidence at Bar proceedings. What is clear from the Vannier case is that in permitting certain hearsay records, the Court was satisfied as to its authenticity and, therefore, concluded that the records were competent. By contrast

in the instant case, Mr. Strausberg has substituted his testimony for that of Mr. Ashe. It is not subject to cross-examination and, even if true, does not prove by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent was derelict. Clearly other reasons besides the failure of the Respondent, such as miscommunication or incorrect address, would explain Mr. Ashe's failure to receive this documentation. Moreover, since Mr. Ashe had a clear interest in the fact that the income tax return in question did not reflect the \$50,000.00 deduction, he may very well have been looking for someone else to blame for this failure. In any event, many of these matters could have been developed on cross-examination had Mr. Ashe been called to testify. In the face of this was the Respondent's sworn testimony that he had in fact done exactly as he had been directed in all respects concerning the Monieson matter. The Bar has simply not proven its case by clear and convincing evidence on this Count.

CROSS POINT THREE

WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE RESPONDENT'S MOTION IN LIMINE.

In the instant case, serious implications have been made that the Respondent's trust records cannot be reconciled or the certain reimbursements, particularly to the Strausberg children's trust cannot be verified. It has remained the Respondent's consistent contention that trust records, most of which languished for a year in the custody of The Bar, were returned incomplete. Conspicuously absent were certain records pertaining to Mr. Strausberg (T13). The absence of such records rendered incompetent those records that were introduced by The Bar. Accordingly, the Motion in Limine should have been granted to provide a level playing field on the issue of the Bar's records.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons noted above, the findings of the Referee should be confirmed subject to the Respondent's objections to Count Three. If the Court does not feel that the record supports the recommended discipline, the case should be remanded for further proceedings to allow the introduction of mitigating evidence on behalf of the Respondent.